**RECEIVED**

**Jan 18 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Jasper County

Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

---

BREON ALEXANDRE,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001654

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether the PCR court properly granted Petitioner a belated appeal from the denial of his application for post-conviction relief (hearing date August 27, 2013) pursuant to *Austin v. State*, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991), where Petitioner wanted to appeal but PCR counsel did not timely serve notice of intent to appeal, and where the State agreed Petitioner was entitled to belated appellate review?

2.

Whether the PCR court incorrectly ruled Petitioner was not entitled to a belated appeal from his guilty plea (hearing date April 12, 2010) pursuant to *White v. State*, 236 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), where Petitioner wanted to appeal but plea counsel did not serve notice of intent to appeal?

## STATEMENT

### ***Procedural history***

On April 12, 2010, Petitioner pleaded guilty to murder, armed robbery, and first-degree burglary before the Honorable J. Ernest Kinard. He was sentenced to concurrent terms of imprisonment of forty years, thirty years, and forty years, respectively. Petitioner was represented by Stephen Plexico. Duffie Stone prosecuted the case.<sup>1</sup>

No direct appeal was taken, and on March 29, 2012, Petitioner filed his first application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The State made its return and partial motion to dismiss on December 28, 2012. A PCR hearing was held on August 27, 2013, before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Gerald Kelly represented Petitioner. Ashleigh Wilson represented the State. On October 31, 2013, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. However, PCR counsel did not timely serve notice of intent to appeal the order of dismissal, and Petitioner's pro se attempt to do so was found to be deficient—this Court dismissed the appeal. The remittitur was issued on January 22, 2014.<sup>2</sup>

On September 10, 2014, Petitioner filed a second PCR application. The State made its return and motion to dismiss all claims except *Austin* review on August 19, 2015. On October 20, 2015, a hearing was convened on the matter before the Honorable Roger L. Couch. James Falk represented Petitioner. Alicia Olive and J. Rutledge Johnson represented the State. The State agreed Petitioner was entitled to *Austin* review, and the court ruled Petitioner was so entitled. However, Judge Couch retired before an order was signed.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> App. 1; App. 3, ll. 9-18; App. 29, ll. 1-3; App. 140 – 142.

<sup>2</sup> App. 31 – 40; App. 41 – 46; App. 47 – 56; App. 57 – 69.

<sup>3</sup> App. 70 – 76; App. 77 – 83; App. 84; App. 87, l. 24 – 88, l. 17; App. 90.

On October 14, 2022, the Honorable Bentley Price issued a consent order granting Petitioner belated appellate review of his 2013 PCR hearing pursuant to *Austin*. Unfortunately, due to the lapse of time, no transcript of the 2013 PCR hearing could be obtained. Petitioner therefore moved to remand the case to reconstruct the record of his original PCR hearing. On April 21, 2023, this Court issued an order remanding the matter to reconstruct the 2013 PCR hearing.<sup>4</sup>

On August 8, 2023, a reconstruction hearing was convened before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, via WebEx. Petitioner was represented by undersigned counsel. Danielle Dixon represented the State. The court took testimony and concluded the record was reconstructed.<sup>5</sup>

***Relevant facts***

*A. Austin v. State review*

As discussed in the procedural history, the first PCR court (Judge Jefferson) signed its order of dismissal on October 28, 2013. The order was filed October 31, 2013. Petitioner, pro se, filed a notice of intent to appeal on November 20, 2013, but the proof of service was defective. This Court contacted PCR counsel (Kelly), on December 5, 2013. Kelly then filed a notice of intent to appeal on December 18, 2013. This Court found proof of service was not timely and dismissed the appeal.<sup>6</sup>

After Petitioner filed a second PCR application, the parties appeared before the second PCR court (Judge Couch) on October 20, 2015. The court was informed of Petitioner's unsuccessful pro se attempt to appeal his PCR denial. The State conceded Petitioner was entitled

---

<sup>4</sup> App. 90 – 94; App. 95 – 96.

<sup>5</sup> App. 97 – 100; App. 104, l. 17.

<sup>6</sup> App. 47; App. 56; App. 57 – 60; App. 61 – 62; App. 63 – 66; App. 67 – 68.

to *Austin* review: “[T]he State does not contest that he’s entitled to an *Austin* review . . . We agree that he’s entitled to an *Austin* review.” The PCR court then orally ruled Petitioner was entitled to *Austin* review.<sup>7</sup>

Because Judge Couch retired without signing an order, the third PCR court (Judge Price), issued an order in which it noted that “both parties consent that Applicant is entitled to seek belated appellate review of the denial of his first post-conviction relief proceeding,” and found “Applicant has established he is entitled to seek belated appellate review of the denial of his first post-conviction relief proceeding.” The PCR court also found that “both parties consent to the denial of all claims in Applicant’s application for post-conviction relief except Applicant’s allegation he is entitled to a belated PCR appeal pursuant to *Austin v. State*. Therefore, this application for post-conviction relief is granted only as to Applicant’s right to seek a belated appeal of his previous application for post-conviction relief and is denied and dismissed as to all other claims for relief.”<sup>8</sup>

#### B. *White v. State* review

The focus of Petitioner’s 2013 PCR hearing was his allegation that plea counsel provided deficient representation when he failed to file a direct appeal from the guilty plea. At that hearing, Petitioner testified that he met with plea counsel after the guilty plea and asked plea counsel to file an appeal. Petitioner said plea counsel agreed to appeal. Petitioner also recalled he signed a form that advised him of his rights in connection with the plea. Plea counsel testified that he went over an advice of rights form with Petitioner, and he advised Petitioner of his right to appeal. Plea counsel testified Petitioner never asked him to file an appeal. Plea counsel said had Petitioner so

---

<sup>7</sup> App. 84; App. 87, l. 19 – 88, l. 17.

<sup>8</sup> App. 91; App. 93.

asked, he would have filed the appeal. Plea counsel did not remember whether or not he met with Petitioner after the plea.<sup>9</sup>

The PCR court found no deficiency by plea counsel. The order of dismissal stated that the court found counsel properly advised Petitioner of his right to appeal and Petitioner failed to indicate his desire for an appeal. The PCR court found Petitioner's testimony not credible and plea counsel's testimony credible. The court found plea counsel's testimony was credible that Petitioner never indicated he wanted to appeal, and that there were no meritorious issues for appeal. Therefore, the PCR court found Petitioner had not met his burden of proof to show he was entitled to a belated direct appeal pursuant to *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974).<sup>10</sup>

This *Austin* petition for writ of certiorari follows.<sup>11</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> App. 101, l. 21 – 102, l. 14; App. 112, l. 21 – 113, l. 11; App. 117, l. 5 – 120, l. 2; App. 50.

<sup>10</sup> App. 54; App. 52; App. 53; App. 53 – 54.

<sup>11</sup> Pursuant to Rule 243(i)(2), SCACR, Petitioner has included a statement of issue on direct appeal, at page 10 below, as part of this *Austin* petition for writ of certiorari.

## ARGUMENT

1.

**The PCR court properly granted Petitioner a belated appeal from the denial of his application for post-conviction relief (hearing date August 27, 2013) pursuant to *Austin v. State*, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991), where Petitioner wanted to appeal but PCR counsel did not timely serve notice of intent to appeal, and where the State agreed Petitioner was entitled to belated appellate review.**

The PCR court properly granted Petitioner a belated appeal from the denial of his first application for post-conviction relief pursuant to *Austin v. State*. In *Austin*, this Court framed the question as whether the PCR applicant “requested and was denied an opportunity to seek appellate review.” *Austin*, 305 S.C. at 454, 409 S.E.2d at 396. The proper scope of review of the PCR court’s ruling is whether there is any evidence of probative value to uphold the PCR court’s findings. *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 238, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984).

In *Austin*, this Court recognized that the right to seek appellate review of the denial of PCR is expressly authorized by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-100. *Austin*, 305 S.C. at 454, 409 S.E.2d at 396. Under *Austin*, the PCR court correctly ruled that Petitioner was entitled to an appeal and no notice of appeal was timely served. As seen, Petitioner unsuccessfully attempted to serve a notice of appeal himself. App. 57 – 60. This attempt was found deficient, but it demonstrated Petitioner’s desire to appeal his PCR denial. The State conceded Petitioner was entitled to belated appellate review. App. 87, ll. 21-22. Respectfully, under the “any evidence” standard of review of *Webb*, this Court should hold that the PCR court’s ruling was correct, grant certiorari, and grant Petitioner a belated appeal from the denial of his original application for post-conviction relief.

**The PCR court incorrectly ruled Petitioner was not entitled to a belated appeal from his guilty plea (hearing date April 12, 2010) pursuant to *White v. State*, 236 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), where Petitioner wanted to appeal but plea counsel did not serve notice of intent to appeal.**

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced the petitioner. *Id.*

The decision to plead guilty must be a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985). “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009) (citing *Hill v. Lockhart*, *supra*). “The crux of the inquiry is whether counsel’s ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process, not whether the defendant would have been successful had he gone to trial.” *Frierson v. State*, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018).

“Following a trial, counsel is required to make certain the defendant is made fully aware of the right to appeal.” *Turner v. State*, 380 S.C. 223, 224, 670 S.E.2d 373, 374 (2008) (citing

*White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974)). “To waive a direct appeal, a defendant must make a knowing and intelligent decision not to pursue the appeal.” *Wilson v. State*, 348 S.C. 215, 217, 559 S.E.2d 581, 582 (2002). “In the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant, counsel must either initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).” *Smith v. State*, 309 S.C. 413, 424 S.E.2d 480 (1992).

However, “[a]bsent extraordinary circumstances, there is no constitutional requirement that a defendant be informed of the right to a direct appeal from a guilty plea, and the bare assertion that a defendant was not advised of appellate rights is insufficient to grant relief.” *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. at 415, 683 S.E.2d at 474–75 (citing *Weathers v. State*, 319 S.C. 59, 61, 459 S.E.2d 838, 839 (1995)). “[C]ounsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal when there is reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing.” *Jones v. State*, 382 S.C. 589, 596, 677 S.E.2d 20, 23 (2009), *overruled on other grounds by Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018) (quoting *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 480 (2000)). “[A] lawyer who disregards specific instructions from the defendant to file a notice of appeal acts in a manner that is professionally unreasonable.” *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 477. *Accord Kinard v. State*, 418 S.C. 478, 481, 795 S.E.2d 15, 16 (2016). “To prove deficient performance, a defendant can rely on evidence that he sufficiently demonstrated to counsel his interest in an appeal.” *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 486.

South Carolina does not recognize conditional guilty pleas. *State v. Rice*, 401 S.C. 330, 331, 737 S.E.2d 485, 485 (2013). A guilty plea is a “waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and claims of violations of constitutional rights.” *Id.* The defendant has waived the right to trial and the

constitutional guarantees that go with it. In other words, a conditional plea may not be accepted, and thus any plea conditioned on the right to appeal should not be accepted. Per Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR:

If the appeal is from a guilty plea . . . a written explanation showing that there is an issue which can be reviewed on appeal [must accompany the notice of appeal]. This explanation should identify the issue(s) to be raised on appeal and the factual basis for the issue(s) including how the issue(s) was raised below and the ruling of the lower court on that issue(s). If an issue was not raised to and ruled on by the lower court, the explanation shall include argument and citation to legal authority showing how this issue can be reviewed on appeal. If the appellant fails to make a sufficient showing, the notice of appeal may be dismissed . . .

Thus, as demonstrated by Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), there are circumstances under which a guilty plea may be appealed.