RECEIVED

Jun 03 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari
to Jasper County
J. Ernest Kinard, Plea Judge
Deadra L. Jefferson, First PCR Judge
Bentley Price, Second PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001654

BREON ALEXANDRE,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court properly granted Petitioner a belated appeal from the denial of his application for post-conviction relief (hearing date August 27, 2013) pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 246 S.E.2d 395 (1991), where Petitioner wanted to appeal but PCR counsel did not timely serve notice of intent to appeal, and where the State agreed Petitioner was entitled to belated appellate review?

Whether the PCR court incorrectly ruled Petitioner was not entitled to a belated appeal from his guilty plea (hearing date April 12, 2010) pursuant to White v. State, 236 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), where Petitioner wanted to appeal but plea counsel did not serve notice of intent to appeal?

RESPONDENT'S COUNTERSTATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the second PCR court properly find Petitioner was entitled to a belated appeal of his first PCR application when he filed a pro se notice of appeal, indicating his intent to appeal?

2. Does probative evidence support the first PCR court's finding that Petitioner is not entitled to a belated review of his guilty plea when plea counsel testified Petitioner did not request an appeal, counsel would have filed an appeal had Petitioner requested it, and counsel did not see any meritorious issues to appeal from this guilty plea?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections serving an aggregate forty-year sentence. In October 2009, the Jasper County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2009-GS-27-494), armed robbery (2009-GS-27-492), and burglary (2009-GS-27-493). On April 12, 2010, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable J. Ernest Kinard and pled guilty as indicted. Public Defender Stephen Plexico represented Petitioner, and Solicitor Duffie Stone prosecuted the case. Judge Kinard imposed concurrent sentences of forty years each for murder and burglary, and thirty years for armed robbery. Petitioner did not appeal.

On March 29, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) alleging counsel was ineffective for not filing a notice of appeal from his guilty plea. The State filed a return and partial motion to dismiss, asserting all claims were barred by the statute of limitations other than Petitioner's claim related to a late appeal. On August 27, 2013, an evidentiary hearing convened before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Petitioner was present and represented by Gerald A. Kelly, Esquire. Assistant Attorney General Ashleigh R. Wilson represented the State. On October 31, 2013, Judge Jefferson issued an order dismissing Petitioner's application. Pertinently, Judge Jefferson found credible plea counsel's PCR testimony that he advised Petitioner of his right to appeal, Petitioner never indicated he wanted an appeal, and there were no meritorious issues for appeal. Judge Jefferson dismissed the remaining claims based on the statute of limitations.

On November 20, 2013, Petitioner filed a pro se notice of appeal from Judge Jefferson's order (2013-002567). On January 3, 2014, the Supreme Court of South Carolina dismissed the appeal, finding Petitioner failed to provide proof of service showing the notice of appeal had been

timely served on opposing counsel. The remittitur was sent January 22, 2014.

On September 10, 2014, Petitioner filed this current PCR application seeking *inter alia* a belated review of the denial of his first PCR application. The State filed a return and motion to dismiss all claims other than the Austin claim. On October 20, 2015, a hearing convened before the Honorable Roger L. Couch. James K. Falk, Esquire, represented Petitioner and Assistant Attorney General Alicia A. Olive represented the State. The State did not oppose Petitioner's request for a late appeal of the denial of his first PCR application. On October 14, 2022, Chief Administrative Judge Bentley Price¹ issued a Consent Order granting Petitioner a belated appeal of his first PCR action pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 454, 409 S.E.2d 395, 396 (1991).

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal from Judge Price's order. Thereafter, pursuant to Petitioner's motion, the case was remanded to Judge Jefferson to reconstruct the record of the first PCR hearing. On August 8, 2023, a reconstruction hearing convened before Judge Jefferson via WebEx. Appellate Defender Joanna K. Delaney represented Petitioner, and Assistant Attorney General Danielle Dixon represented the State. After hearing testimony, Judge Jefferson determined the record was reconstructed.

¹ Judge Couch retired before an order was filed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief depends on the specific issue before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing factual findings, appellate courts defer to the PCR court's factual findings and will uphold them if any probative evidence in the record supports them. Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018); Smalls, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40. Further, appellate courts "defer to the PCR court's credibility findings as to witnesses who testified before the PCR court." Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 247, 814 S.E.2d 487, 493 (2018). "Where matters of credibility are involved, this Court gives great deference to a judge's findings, because this Court lacks the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses." Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 589, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the PCR court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

1. The State has conceded Petitioner is entitled to a belated review of the order denying Petitioner's first PCR application.

Petitioner asserts the second PCR court properly found he was entitled to a belated appeal from the denial of his first PCR application. Specifically, he contends his attempt to file a pro se notice of appeal demonstrated his desire to appeal the denial of his first PCR application. (Pet. 6). The State conceded this issue during the second PCR hearing. (App. 87-88). Likewise, the consent order issued by the second PCR court found both Petitioner and the State agreed that Petitioner did not voluntarily waive his right to appeal the order dismissing his first PCR application. (App. 90-94). See Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 454, 409 S.E.2d 395, 396 (1991) (finding “allegation that counsel failed to seek review [of denial of PCR] sufficiently states a claim of ineffective assistance” and “remand[ing] for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether in fact the petitioner requested and was denied an opportunity to seek appellate review”). Respondent thus concedes Petitioner is entitled to a belated review of the denial of his first PCR application.

2. Probative evidence supports the first PCR court's finding that Petitioner is not entitled to a belated review of his guilty plea when plea counsel testified Petitioner did not request an appeal, counsel would have filed an appeal had Petitioner requested it, and counsel did not see any meritorious issues to appeal from this guilty plea.

Probative evidence supports the first PCR court's finding that Petitioner was not entitled to a belated appeal from his guilty plea. “Following a trial, counsel must make certain the defendant is made fully aware of the right to appeal.” Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010). “To waive a direct appeal, a defendant must make a knowing and intelligent decision not to pursue the appeal.” Wilson v. State, 348 S.C. 215, 217, 559 S.E.2d 581, 582 (2002). “In the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant, counsel must either initiate an appeal or comply

with the procedure in Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).” Turner v. State, 380 S.C. 223, 224, 670 S.E.2d 373, 374 (2008). Where an accused establishes in a PCR hearing that he was unconstitutionally deprived of his statutory right to a direct appeal, the South Carolina Supreme Court, upon an appeal of the PCR decision, will review the trial record and pass upon all issues properly raised and argued as if the direct appeal had been perfected. White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 119, 108 S.E.2d 35, 39-40 (1974).

However, the standard for a guilty plea differs. Absent extraordinary circumstances, such as when there is reason to think a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal) or when the defendant reasonably demonstrated an interest in appealing, there is no constitutional requirement that a defendant be informed of the right to a direct appeal from a guilty plea.

Turner, 380 S.C. at 224, 670 S.E.2d at 374. (emphasis added). Thus, in Turner, the Supreme Court of South Carolina determined the PCR court erred in granting the petitioner a belated appeal of his guilty plea when “there was no evidence of extraordinary circumstances which would require counsel to advise petitioner of his right to a direct appeal.” Id. at 225, 670 S.E.2d at 374. Likewise, in Jones v. State, 392 S.C. 589, 577 S.E.2d 20 (2009) (abrogated on other ground by Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018)), the Supreme Court of South Carolina found the PCR court erred in granting the petitioner a belated appeal of his guilty plea when (1) there were no meritorious issues for appeal and thus no evidence a rational defendant would want to appeal and (2) the petitioner did not ask plea counsel to file a belated appeal.

Here, probative evidence supports the first PCR court’s finding that Petitioner was not entitled to a belated appeal from his guilty plea. Initially, plea counsel testified Petitioner did not request an appeal, but he would have filed an appeal if Petitioner had requested one. (App. 117-19). Although Petitioner testified he *did* request an appeal, the PCR court found plea counsel’s

testimony on this issue credible, and this Court should defer to that finding. (App. 6-7). See Thompson, 423 S.C. at 247, 814 S.E.2d at 493 (providing appellate courts “defer to the PCR court's credibility findings as to witnesses who testified before the PCR court”); Foye, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (“Where matters of credibility are involved, this Court gives great deference to a judge's findings, because this Court lacks the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses.”).

Additionally, counsel testified he did not see any meritorious issues for appeal. (App. 118). Critically, a review of the plea transcript itself shows there were no preserved issues for appeal. (App. 1-29). Thus, no evidence supports a finding of extraordinary circumstances such that a rational defendant would want to appeal. Based on the foregoing, the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to prove he was entitled to a belated appeal of his guilty plea.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should grant certiorari on the first question, dispense with further briefing, and deny certiorari on the second question.